FILED

NO. A18-0398

~~February 28, 2019~~

State of Minnesota
In Supreme Court

**OFFICE OF
APPELLATE COURTS**

Firefighters Union Local 4725 and
Mark Turner, Its President,

Respondents,

vs.

City of Brainerd,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER CITY OF BRAINERD

MEYER NJUS TANICK, PA
Marshall H. Tanick (#0108303)
Teresa J. Ayling (#0157478)
330 Second Avenue South
Suite 350
Minneapolis, MN 55401
Tel: (612) 341-2181
Fax: (612) 337-4894
mtanick@meyernjus.com
tayling@meyernjus.com

*Attorneys for Respondents
Firefighters Union Local 4725 and
Mark Turner, Its President*

EVERETT & VANDERWIEL, PLLP
Pamela L. VanderWiel (#305960)
William J. Everett (#207275)
Anna L. Yunker (#392551)

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES

Issue: Does a municipal government's reorganization of a department that results in the dissolution of a bargaining unit constitute a statutorily authorized exercise of a public employer's inherent managerial authority, consistent with *State ex rel. Quiring v. Bd. of Educ. of Ind. Sch. Dist. No. 173*, 623 N.W.2d 634 (Minn. Ct. App. 2001), *review denied* (Minn. May 29, 2001), or is it an unfair labor practice, as the court of appeals determined below?

Rulings Below: The issue was raised before the Crow Wing County District Court through cross motions for summary judgment filed by the Petitioner and Respondents. (Docs. 28-29, 31, 41.) The trial court granted the Petitioner's motion for summary judgment and denied the Respondents' motion, holding that the decision to reorganize the Brainerd Fire Department was a matter of inherent managerial policy and therefore not subject to negotiation. (Add. 2, 9-11; *see also* Add. 27; Add. 28-29.) The Minnesota Court of Appeals reversed and ordered judgment in the Respondents' favor, holding that if an employer's unilateral decision to reorganize a department results in the elimination of a bargaining unit while a bargaining agreement is in effect, the employer has engaged in an unfair labor practice. (Add. 38-41, 50-51.) Petitioner preserved the issue for appeal by filing a timely petition for review.

Apposite Authority:

Cases:

Arrowhead Pub. Serv. Union v. City of Duluth, 336 N.W.2d 68 (Minn. 1983)

Minneapolis Fed'n of Teachers Local 59 v. Minneapolis Special Sch. Dist. No. 1,
258 N.W.2d 802 (Minn. 1977)

Laird v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 317, Deer River, Minn., 346 N.W.2d 153 (Minn.
1984)

Statutory Provisions:

Minn. Stat. § 179A.01(a) (2018)

Minn. Stat. § 179A.03, subd. 19 (2018)

Minn. Stat. § 179A.07, subd. 1 (2018)

Minn. Stat. § 179A.13, subd. 2(2) (2018)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to 2015, the City of Brainerd operated a “combination fire department,” staffed with both full-time fire equipment officers (“FEOs”) and paid-on-call firefighters (“POCs”). In 2015, in an attempt to address financial pressures with which it had been struggling for several years, Petitioner City of Brainerd passed a resolution to change the organizational structure of the department from a combination fire department to a fully paid-on-call department.

Respondents, the FEOs whose positions were eliminated as part of the reorganization, and their union, initiated this lawsuit in Crow Wing County District Court on or about January 19, 2016. (Doc. 1.) The Complaint contained the following claims: (1) that the reorganization violated the Public Employment Labor Relations Act (“PELRA”) because it resulted in the elimination of the bargaining unit; (2) that the reorganization violated the Brainerd City Charter; and (3) that the reorganization was

undertaken in retaliation for Respondents' speech, in violation of the Minnesota and United States Constitutions. (*Id.*)

At the close of discovery, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (Docs. 28-29.) The Crow Wing County District Court, the Honorable Earl Maus presiding, denied Respondents' motion, and granted Petitioner's motion in part. (Add. 2, 9-11.) The only claim that survived summary judgment was Count I, which alleged that the reorganization violated PELRA. (*Id.*)

After receiving permission from the district court, the City filed a motion for reconsideration. (Doc. 82.) On January 11, 2018, the district court granted the City's motion for reconsideration and dismissed the only remaining claim on the ground that Respondents had failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact in response to the City's motion, as required by Minnesota Rule of Civil Procedure 56.05. (Add. 28-29.) Respondents appealed. (Doc. 104.) On October 8, 2018, the Minnesota Court of Appeals reversed the district court's order with respect to Count I, and affirmed the remainder of the order. (Add. 50-51.) Petitioner City of Brainerd filed a petition for review on November 7, 2018.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Parties

The City of Brainerd ("the City") is a home-rule charter city. (Doc. 44 ¶ 3.) The City operates a fire department ("Brainerd Fire Department" or "BFD"), which offers protection to the City and several surrounding communities. (*Id.*)

Respondent Firefighters Union Local 4725 (“Local 4725”) is the exclusive bargaining unit for the Fire Equipment Operators (“FEOs”) who were previously employed by the BFD. (Doc. 1 ¶¶ 1, 2; Doc. 43 Ex. 7 at 17.) Local 4725 had five members at the time of the restructuring that is the subject of this lawsuit. (Doc. 44 ¶ 11; Doc. 43 Ex. 7 at 15.) Respondent Mark Turner is a former FEO for the BFD, and was president of Local 4725. (Doc. 1 ¶ 2.)

The Reorganization¹

Prior to 2015, the BFD was a combination fire department; that is, it employed both full-time FEOs and paid-on-call firefighters (“POCs”). (See Doc. 36 ¶ 7-8.) POCs are like FEOs, in that they receive firefighter training and are paid by the City. (Doc. 48 ¶ 2.) However, unlike FEOs, POCs do not have regularly-scheduled work hours. (*Id.*) Rather, they are “on call,” and respond to fire and other emergency incidents on an as-needed basis. (*Id.*) In addition to FEOs and POCs, the BFD employed a full-time fire chief and an administrative specialist.

On September 21, 2015, the City Council passed Resolution 45:15, which reorganized the BFD by creating a full-time position that served as both as a Fire Marshal and a Deputy Fire Chief and by eliminating the FEO positions. (Doc. 45 Ex. A.) The reorganization, which became effective on October 21, 2015, resulted in all five members of Local 4725 being laid off. (*See id.*)

¹ The City referred to its reorganization of the BFD as “restructuring.” References in the record to “restructuring” refer to the same process described herein as “reorganizing.”

History of Reorganization

The idea of reorganizing the BFD was not new in 2015. (Doc. 44 ¶ 9.) Financial stress had caused the City to attempt to reorganize the BFD five years earlier, in 2010. (Doc. 46 Ex. L at 7-8.) In 2010, the City was, like many other communities, suffering from the effects of a nationwide recession. (Doc. 44 ¶¶ 4-7.) The recession had caused property values to plunge, which resulted in decreased property tax revenue to the City. (*Id.*) Additionally, legislative action caused the City to receive less in local government aid than for which it had budgeted, from 2008 to 2011. (*Id.*) The decrease in revenue forced the City to make significant cuts to its budget. (*Id.* ¶¶ 7-9.)

In 2010, the BFD employed seven FEOs and approximately 40 POCs. (*Id.* ¶ 9.) The City Administrator at the time, Dan Vogt, concluded that reorganizing the department to eliminate the FEO positions and to hire a full-time Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal, would result in a significant reduction in personnel costs.² (Doc. 46 Ex. L; Doc. 44 ¶ 10.) In March 2010, the City Council voted to adopt the plan. (Doc. 44 ¶ 10.) After the City Council voted, however, the FEOs and their union launched a public campaign against the reorganization. (Doc. 1 ¶ 11.) They argued that the reorganization would result in slower response times, thereby adversely impacting the department's ISO rating³ and putting public safety at risk. (*See, e.g.*, Doc. 46 Ex. M at 4 (statement by Charlie

² The City had already cut staff by refraining from filling certain vacant positions. (Doc. 44 ¶ 8.)

³ An ISO (Insurance Service Office) rating is on a 1 to 10 scale, with a rating of 1 being the best, and 10 the worst. The rating reflects the risk to the community, based on the quality of fire service it receives. The rating may or may not be used by insurance companies to determine homeowners' insurance rates, but it is generally used as a benchmark by fire departments and the communities they serve.

Dunneman).) This caused the City Council to reconsider its decision, and it rescinded its vote to restructure the fire department in April 2010. (Doc. 44 ¶ 10.)

Financial Issues Affecting the Brainerd Fire Department

In the years that followed the City’s first attempt to restructure the BFD, the BFD began to experience financial stress over and above that experienced by the City as a whole. (Doc. 44 ¶ 11.) This stress came from two sources: loss of members to the Brainerd Fire Service Area, and the loss of a federal grant. (*Id.*)

The BFD is unique among the City’s various departments in that it generates revenues from surrounding communities. (*Id.* ¶ 12.) The Brainerd Fire Service Area (“FSA”) is a group of cities and townships (including Brainerd) that pay a yearly fee to receive services from the BFD. (*Id.*) The fee paid by the members of the FSA is used to pay the yearly costs of running the BFD. (*Id.*) In or around 2013, some of the communities that were members of the FSA began to complain about the amount of money they were paying for fire service. (*Id.* ¶ 13.) Daggett Brook Township had already terminated its membership in the FSA in 2011. (*Id.*) In 2014, the City of East Gull Lake and Fort Ripley Township notified the City that they planned to terminate their contract, and ultimately left the FSA at the beginning of 2015. (*Id.*) The City was concerned about the loss of the communities in the FSA, because not only did it have a financial impact on the City, but it also jeopardized the City’s relationship with other members of the FSA. (*Id.*) The City had to charge the remaining members of the FSA higher fees, in order to

cover the losses caused by communities leaving the FSA. (*Id.*) Unorganized Territory⁴ began openly discussing plans to leave the FSA. (*Id.*) On or around June 2015, Crow Wing Township gave notice that it intended to leave the FSA.⁵ (*Id.*) Maple Grove Township also raised concerns and eventually left the FSA, effective January 1, 2017. (*Id.*)

During this time, the BFD also lost a federal grant on which it relied to employ two FEOs. (*Id.* ¶ 14.) FEMA offers financial assistance through the SAFER (Staffing for Adequate Fire & Emergency Response Grants) Program. (*Id.*) The purpose of the program is to provide funds directly to local fire departments to help increase or maintain the number of trained firefighters in their communities.⁶ Since 2011, the City had been receiving SAFER funds. (*Id.*) The grant expired in April 2013, and in 2014, the City was notified that the grant would not be renewed. (*Id.*) As a result, the City had to lay off two of its FEOs, reducing the number from seven to five. (*Id.*)

Strategic Financial Planning

In 2012, the City worked to adopt a mission and vision statement and to identify strategic focus areas. (*Id.* ¶ 15.) One of the major focus areas was Strategic Financial

⁴ “Unorganized Territory” is the First Assessment District of Crow Wing County. See Chelsey Perkins, *Taxes Will Rise—But by How Much? Unorganized Territory Residents About to Find Out*, BRAINERD DISPATCH, Sept. 20, 2017, <https://www.brainerddispatch.com/news/4330661-taxes-will-rise-how-much-unorganized-territory-residents-about-find-out>. It operates as a township. See CROW WING COUNTY MINNESOTA, <https://crowwing.us/1454/First-Assessment-District> (last visited February 27, 2019).

⁵ Ultimately, Crow Wing Township did not leave the FSA.

⁶ See *Staffing for Adequate Fire & Emergency Response Grants*, FEMA, U.S. DEP’T OF HOMELAND SECURITY, <https://www.fema.gov/staffing-adequate-fire-emergency-response-grants> (last visited February 27, 2019).

Planning. (*Id.*) The City had an urgent need to engage in financial planning for three reasons:

- To make needed capital expenditures—One of the ways the City responded to the financial pressures placed on it by the recession was to dramatically reduce its capital expenditures. In the years 2009 to 2013, the City had spent very little on capital equipment. (*Id.* ¶ 17.) The City invested more from 2014 to 2016, but still less than 50% of what had been requested by its various departments. (*Id.*) The City recognized that continuing to underfund capital investments ultimately would result in failing or deficient equipment. (*Id.*) This concern applied to equipment used by the BFD, as well as the other departments in the City. The last time the City had issued debt to purchase new equipment for the BFD was in 2007, when it purchased a ladder truck. (*Id.*) The City had not made any major purchases after this time. (*Id.*) This fueled concerns that the City’s ISO rating would be jeopardized because the City was failing to replace aging equipment. (*Id.*)
- To prevent debt service funds from going further into the negative—The City had kept the levy flat or had reduced it in the period of 2007 to 2013. (*Id.* ¶ 18.) During this time, the City had not made up for the loss in revenue through other means. (*Id.*) As a result, the City’s debt service funds had gone into the negative. (*Id.*) In other words, the City had been “borrowing” from other funds to make debt service payments over the years. (*Id.*)
- To comply with the Fund Balance Policy—In 2009, the City had adopted a Fund Balance Policy, which provided that the City must “maintain the unassigned

portion of the fund balance for Cash Flow in a range equal to 35-50% of the working fund current year operating expenditures.” (*Id.* ¶ 16.) At the end of 2012, this fund was at 33%. It had decreased to 29% by the end of 2013. (*Id.*)

The 2015 Reorganization

In 2014 and 2015, there was renewed discussion about reorganization. City staff estimated that reorganizing the BFD would save the City approximately \$275,000 per year. (Doc. 44 ¶¶ 19-21; Doc. 43 Ex. 7 at 88; Doc. 43 Ex. 8.) Representatives from the communities making up the Fire Service Area questioned the cost of maintaining FEOs at Fire Advisory Board⁷ meetings on January 14, 2015 and April 30, 2014. (Doc. 46 Exs. N, O.) In December 2014, Council member Gary Scheeler announced that he was going to make a “public push” and a motion to the City Council to eliminate the FEOs’ positions. (Doc. 43 Ex. 3.) As they had in 2010, the FEOs and the Union publicly spoke out against the reorganization. (*See* Doc. 43 Ex. 4 at 2-3; Doc. 43 Ex. 5 at 2-3.)

On July 7, 2015, the City informed the Union, by letter, that it intended to reorganize the BFD. (Doc. 46 Ex. P.) On September 21, 2015, the City Council enacted a resolution to eliminate the five FEO positions and to hire a full-time Fire Marshal/Deputy Fire Chief. (Doc. 45 Ex. A; Doc. 46 Ex. R.) The reorganization was implemented on October 21, 2015. As a result, the FEO positions were eliminated, and each of the members of Local 4725 were laid off. (*See* Doc. 45 Ex. A; Doc. 46 Ex. R.) The City placed the estimated savings that resulted from the first year after reorganization

⁷ The Fire Advisory Board is an advisory committee that is comprised of representatives from each of the member communities of the Fire Service Area.

(\$275,000) into a capital fund to provide for the purchase of future equipment or facility needs. (Doc. 44 ¶¶ 20-21; Doc. 43 Ex. 7 at 88.)

The Lawsuit

On January 19, 2016, Local 4725 and its president, Mark Turner, sued the City. (Doc. 1.) The Respondents' Complaint contained four counts. Count I alleged that the City engaged in an unfair labor practice, in violation of PELRA. (*Id.* ¶¶ 7-25.) Count II alleged that the reorganization violated the City's charter (*id.* ¶¶ 26-33), and Counts III and IV alleged that the City decided to restructure the BFD in retaliation for Local 4725's and the FEOs' exercise of free speech. (*Id.* ¶¶ 34-52.) On July 20, 2017, the parties submitted cross motions for summary judgment. (Doc. 71.) The City sought dismissal of the lawsuit in full, while Turner and Local 4725 sought judgment in their favor on Counts I and II. (*See generally* Doc. 31; Doc. 41.)

Local 4725's argument in regard to Count I, as articulated in both its response to the City's motion for summary judgment and in Local 4725's memorandum supporting its motion for partial summary judgment, was that the reorganization constituted an unfair labor practice under the following statutory provisions:

Employers. Public employers, their agents and representatives are prohibited from:

- (1) Interfering, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in sections 179A.01 to 179A.25;
- (2) Dominating or interfering with the formation, existence, or administration of any employee organization or contributing other support to it;

(3) Discriminating in regard to hire or tenure to encourage or discourage membership in an employee organization

Minn. Stat. § 179A.13, subd 2 (2016). (*See also* Doc. 31 at 10, 12, 14-17; Doc. 55 at 1-9.)

In regard to section 179A.13, subdivision 2(2), Local 4725 argued, without any supporting authority, that the reorganization was an unfair labor practice because, by eliminating all the positions in a bargaining unit, it interfered with the existence and administration of an employee organization. (Doc. 31 at 14-15.)

The district court granted the City's motion in part, and denied Local 4725's motion in its entirety. (Add. 26.) The district court dismissed Counts II through IV, on the ground that the City's charter did not prohibit the restructuring, and that Local 4725 had not made a prima facie case that the City had retaliated against Local 4725 and the FEOs for exercising their right to free speech. (Add. 17-26.) The district court denied the City's motion as to Count I. (Add. 26.) It held that the City's decision to reorganize the BFD was a matter of inherent managerial policy over which the City was not required to negotiate. (Add. 9-15.) It determined, however, there were fact issues as to whether the City had failed to negotiate the effects or impact of the reorganization, and as to whether the City properly negotiated the issue of work jurisdiction. (Add. 15-17.)

The City requested permission, and was allowed, to file a motion for reconsideration. (Doc. 78; Add. 27.) The City pointed out that neither of the grounds on which the court had determined that there was a fact issue was properly before the court, as neither had been pleaded. (Doc. 84 at 2-7.) Additionally, Local 4725 had not met the requirement of Minnesota Rule of Civil Procedure 56.05 in that Local 4725 had raised

the arguments for the first time in its reply brief to the City’s motion for summary judgment, and had not supported the arguments with admissible evidence. (*Id.* at 7-9.) The district court agreed with the City, and amended its order to dismiss Local 4725’s lawsuit in full. (Add. 28-29.)

The Court of Appeals’ Decision

The court of appeals affirmed the district court on all grounds except as to the PELRA claim. (Add. 32.) It reasoned that, because the City eliminated all the FEO positions, the City had effectively eliminated “the entire union.” (Add. 41.) It determined that the City had violated Minnesota Statutes section 179A.13, subdivision 2(2), which prohibits employers from “interfering with the formation, existence, or administration of any employee organization.” (Add. 40-41.) The court concluded “that it is not an ‘inherent managerial policy’ for an employer to reorganize a department when the reorganization interferes with the existence and administration of a union. Minn. Stat. §§ 179A.07, .13, subd. 2(2).” (Add. 41.) The court of appeals remanded the case to the district court with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Local 4725. (Add. 41-42.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When interpreting statutory provisions, the Court applies a de novo standard of review. *Ekdahl v. Ind. Sch. Dist. No. 213*, 851 N.W.2d 874, 876 (Minn. 2014) (citing *Reider v. Anoka-Hennepin Sch. Dist. No. 11*, 728 N.W.2d 246, 249 (Minn. 2007)). “The goal of all statutory interpretation is to ‘ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature.’” *Binkley v. Allina Health Sys.*, 877 N.W.2d 547, 550 (Minn. 2016) (quoting Minn. Stat. § 645.16).

ARGUMENT

The Legislature has described the policy and purpose of the Minnesota Public Employment Labor Relations Act, codified at Chapter 179A, as follows:

It is the public policy of this state and the purpose of sections 179A.01 to 179A.25 to promote orderly and constructive relationships between all public employers and their employees. This policy is subject to the paramount right of the citizens of this state to keep inviolate the guarantees for their health, education, safety, and welfare.

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