STATE OF MINNESOTA
SUPREME COURT
NO. A18-0398



Firefighters Union Local 4725 and
Mark Turner, Its President,

Respondents,

vs.

City of Brainerd,

Appellant.

BRIEF AND ADDENDUM OF RESPONDENTS

MEYER NJUS TANICK, PA

Marshall H. Tanick (ID # 0108303)
Teresa J. Ayling (ID # 0157478)
330 Second Avenue South
Suite 350
Minneapolis, MN 55401
Telephone: (612) 341-2181
Facsimile: (612) 337-5894
Email: mtanick@meyernjus.com
Email: tayling@meyernjus.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
FIREFIGHTERS UNION
LOCAL 4725 AND MARK
TURNER, ITS PRESIDENT**

EVERETT & VANDERWIEL, PLLP

Pamela L. VanderWiel (ID #305960)
Anna L. Yunker (ID # 392551)
2930 146th Street West, Suite 115
Rosemount, MN 55068

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

This pernicious practice has cropped up in Minnesota, too, evoking substantial expenditure of time, money, and resources by workers and their unions to fend off such cuts. *See* J. Olson, Union Lawsuit contests layoffs at Hennepin County Medical Center, StarTribune (Apr. 5, 2017), <http://www.startribune.com/union-lawsuit-contests-layoffs-at-hennepin-county-medical-center/418433613/> (last accessed 3/21/2019); P. Pheifer, HCMC and workers reach settlement, but lawsuit continues, StarTribune (Apr. 19, 2017), <http://www.startribune.com/hcmc-and-workers-reach-settlement-but-lawsuit-continues/419901733/>, (last accessed 3/21/2019); *See also* W. Bornhoft, “Hostile Mob Present as Forest Lake Voted To Disband Police,” Patch (May 9, 2017) <https://patch.com/minnesota/stillwater/hostile-mob-present-forest-lake-voted-disband-police>, (last accessed 3/21/19)); W. Bornhoft, “Forest Lake Police Department is ‘Saved’,” Patch (May 11, 2017), <https://patch.com/minnesota/stillwater/forest-lake-police-department-saved> (last accessed 3/25/19).

The Brainerd collective bargaining calumny is the manifestation of the worst of this troublesome trend. This case is even more problematic than the others, because the existing union contract has been abrogated, before it even reached its mid-point, with 27

months left to run on the 36-month term. If allowed to succeed, it will set a precedent encouraging acceleration of this anti-union animosity.

In all of these cases and others like them, “cost saving” has been the mantra. Naturally, when employees are laid off or union contracts breached, governing units will save money because there will be less wages and benefits. That is hardly surprising, but it is sinister. Under the rubric of cost savings any government entity (or private sector one, for that matter) could justify disposing of employees, slashing wages, cutting benefits, and the like, regardless of the existence, as here, of a contract or in other cases of civil service protections or other job security measures. Simply put, cost saving measures are almost always present when jobs are cut or contracts breached. While that may provide an explanation or excuse, it does not provide a justification for doing so when it deviates from contractual requirements and decimates a duly established union.

V. THE CITY’S UNTIMELINESS ARGUMENT WAS NOT PRESERVED

The City’s argument that the issue of “work jurisdiction” was not properly raised below should be disregarded because the issue was not raised in its petition for review with this Court. The Court did not grant review on the issue, which was not addressed or decided by the Court of Appeals. Add. 41. n. 3.

Ordinarily, appellate courts “will not consider issues that have not been decided below.” *Costilla v. State*, 571 N.W.2d 587, 592 (Minn. Ct. App. 1997) citing *Thiele v. Stich*, 425 N.W.2d 580, 582 (Minn. 1988).

In the event this Court decides to address the issue, it should be rejected. After finding that “Plaintiffs have raised issues of material fact” as to “work jurisdiction” and the “effects of the City’s decision to contract out” in violation of PELRA, denying Summary Judgment, *Add. 15*, the Trial Court reversed course and dismissed the “remaining” PELRA claims even though no new “fact” issues emerged in the interim. The Trial Court reasoned that the PELRA issues had not been “properly” raised and dismissed them, along with the rest of the case. *Add. 29*.

The issue was properly raised in the Complaint. The Union and Turner asserted in the Complaint, that the way the City abolished their jobs transgressed their PELRA rights by interfering with the work jurisdiction rights of the Union members; interfering with the Union’s “existence and administration” and by discriminating against hiring or tenure of Union members. *Doc. 1 (Complaint, Count I, pp. 2-5)*. These all constitute elements of what the Court below referred to as “work jurisdiction.”

The issues were raised and argued in the Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment brought below by Appellants, *Doc. 31, pp. 103-105 (Memorandum pp. 14-16)*; were reiterated in both Plaintiffs’ Responsive Memorandum of Law in Opposition to City’s Motion for Summary Judgment, *Doc. 55, p. 113-122 (Response pp. 1-10)*; and again in the Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment, *Doc. 63, pp. 4-7 (Reply pp. 1-4)*; and in oral argument, *Tr. 29-30, 61-63, 71-73*.

A Complaint need not raise every factual bases or legal argument. Rather, under *Minn. R. Civ. P. 8.01*, a Complaint must “contain a short and plain statement of the claim

showing that the pleader is entitled to relief and a demand for judgment for the relief sought.” Minn. R. Civ. P. 8.01. The Minnesota Supreme Court has rejected the enhanced federal pleading standard in *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007) and *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009) reaffirming the state’s “traditional pleading standard” and restated that Minnesota continues to follow the notice pleading rules. *Walsh v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 851 N.W.2d 598, 600, 603 (Minn. 2014). The Court there declined to enforce any heightened pleading standard greater than the “traditional interpretation of Minn. R. Civ. P. 8.01.” *Id.*

As the Trial Court indicated in its initial ruling, the Union and Turner did plead Unfair Labor Practices (ULPs) in violation of PELRA in Counts I of their Complaint, putting the City on notice of those claims. Nothing more is needed under the “traditional” notice pleading provisions permissible, indeed, encouraged under Minnesota law.

Even if the Complaint were inadequate, *which it is not*, Minnesota allows amendment of a Complaint at any time in the litigation process, including during or after trial, if there is no prejudice or any asserted prejudice can be ameliorated. *See* Minn. R. Civ. P. 15.02.

Any notion that the City was subjected to some type of unfair surprise is wrong. The issue of “work jurisdiction” was clearly present throughout the litigation, from beginning to end. The duration of the collective bargaining agreement, from 2015 – 2017, was repeatedly referenced in Plaintiffs Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion

for Summary Judgment, Doc. 31, pp. 94, 106, 113. In fact, the City cited *Independent School Dist. No. 88, New Ulm*, 503 N.W.2d at 105 for the proposition that an employer must negotiate the effects of its decision to contract out the work. City's Response to Plaintiff's Motion of Summary Judgment, Doc. 52, p. 55. That issue, and the corollary that the City did not negotiate the consequences or "impact" of abrogating the contract was in the forefront of the litigation, not snuck in at some belated time.

If the City truly thought the Complaint was vague or insufficient, it could have made a motion to dismiss based on the sufficiency of the pleadings under Minn. R. Civ. P. 12.02 or for a more definite statement under Rule 12.05. Rather, it made a Motion for Summary Judgment, allowing the Court to look beyond the Complaint.

Even if the City had made a Rule 12 Motion, and even if the Complaint did not adequately address the issues for which Summary Judgment was denied, *which it did*, the remedy for technical pleading issues is not to dismiss the matter on the merits, but to allow amendment of the Complaint. Minn. R. Civ. P. 15.02 allows amendments to the pleadings freely "as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence" and such matters can be raised "at any time, even after judgment...."

The Supreme Court reminds that "amendment of pleadings is liberally allowed even after judgment has been entered." *Crum v. Anchor Cas. Co.*, 264 Minn. 378, 389, 119 N.W.2d 703, 710 (1963); *Willmar Gas Co. v. Duininck*, 239 Minn. 173, 176, 58 N.W.2d 197, 199 (1953) (amendment to answer allowed at the close of trial). Thus, if there was any lack of clarity below – and there was not – the proper remedy was to allow,

or require, Respondents to amend their complaint to clarify any claims alleged to be inadequate.

“The objective of the law [is] to decide cases on their merits.” *Webster Grading, Inc. v. Niles Wiese Const. Co.*, No. A10-189, 2010 WL 3000705, at *2 (Minn. Ct. App. Aug. 3, 2010) (unpublished). *See also Firoved v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 277 Minn. 278, 283, 152 N.W.2d 364, 368 (1967) (“An order of dismissal on procedural grounds runs counter to the primary objective of the law to dispose of cases on the merits.... [A] dismissal ... is the most punitive sanction ... [and] should therefore be granted only under exceptional circumstances”). Because there is no exceptional circumstance here, the Trial Court erred in dismissing the lawsuit on reconsideration.

In sum, the Trial Court’s reversal of its own determination that material fact issues existed on the PELRA claims was incorrect. As the Court of Appeal correctly held, the Plaintiff was entitled to judgment of the merits as a matter of law, and the only remaining issue to be determined in this matter is damages.

VI. THE AMICUS POSITION IS UNTENABLE, TOO

The arguments of amicus League of Cities are equally untenable. Like the City, it premises its position on the “inherent managerial” authority of the municipality to do whatever it wants, notwithstanding the existence of the contract with the Union, in the name of financial frugality. *League’s Brief*, pp. 4-5.

The League also relies on inapplicable case law, *Dietz v. Dodge Cty.*, 487 N.W.2d 237, 239 (Minn. 1992); *Willis v. Cty. of Sherburne*, 555 N.W.2d 277 (Minn. 1996); and *Tischer v. Hous. & Redevelopment Auth. of Cambridge*, 693 N.W.2d 426 (Minn. 2005),

for the proposition that “Minnesota courts have consistently deferred to elected local officials’ administrative employment decisions.” *Amicus Brief*, p. 11 and n. 24. But these cases dealt with non-union employees of government entities, not union workers. In those cases, the individual non-union employees were without recourse to contest their discharges in the courts, they only could pursue relief by means of a Writ of Certiorari.

However, as the Court in *Dietz* made clear, review by writ of certiorari is required “in the absence of an adequate method of review or legal remedy. . . .” *Dietz*, 487 N.W.2d at 239. Here, there is an “adequate method of review or legal remedy,” as set forth under the PELRA.

The League erroneously castigates the Appellate Court for having a “new” limitation on a municipality’s “structural reorganization” if a collective bargaining agreement exists. *Id.*, p. 4. But the Court of Appeals simply applied existing law under PELRA and the collective bargaining agreement in recognizing that a union contract has meaning – and value. It is the League (and the City) that would create “new” law by allowing government entities to blithely disregard existing workplace contracts under the rubric of “cost savings.”

The amicus imploration for “flexibility” is a euphemism that ignores fidelity to contracts. *Id.*, pp. 5-6. Its contention that upholding the sanctity of contracts imperils “separation of powers” by allowing unions, arbitrators, and even judges to “second guess local officials” represents an unfettered imperial power to government bodies that would leave them above reproach, effectively negating laws, arbitrations, and courts. *Id.* p. 7.

This does not advance “separation of powers” but separates municipalities from any legal responsibility.

In essence, the City seeks sovereign immunity in labor contract matters whenever it deems it expedient to disregard the contract. However, “[g]enerally, sovereign immunity does not apply to contractual obligations.” *McDonough v. City of Rosemount*, 503 N.W.2d 493, 497 (Minn. Ct. App. 1993), *rev. denied* (Minn. Sept. 10, 1993) (holding the City must abide by a contract to purchase land entered into by the city council, and the newly elected council members may not repudiate it); *Krause v. City of Elk River*, No. A14-1575, 2015 WL 3823093, at *4 (Minn. Ct. App. June 22, 2015) (city not entitled to immunity in breach of warranty claim because it was based in contract); *City of Minneapolis v. Ames & Fischer Co. II, LLP*, 724 N.W.2d 749, 756 (Minn. Ct. App. 2006) (“a municipality is never entitled to the defense of immunity on a pure contract action....”) *See also* 10A Eugene McQuillan, “The Law of Municipal Corporations” § 29.119 (3d ed. rev. vol. 1990) (“A municipality must perform its valid contracts the same as an individual or private corporation”).

Moreover, what the City and League identify as the public interest is simply weighing priorities between the level of taxation against the provision of services and capital expenditures. While revenues may vary from year to year with changes in the economy and decisions at the state level about funding local government, cities have the option to raise revenue through taxation when needed.

The League’s claim that according majestic authority to municipalities like Brainerd is “easy to understand and apply” is correct, but contrary to law. League Brief,

p. 6. It is easy to understand: the City can do whatever it wants; it is easy to apply: any City decision cannot be questioned. It is the kind of “easy to understand and apply” philosophy that exists in dictatorial or lawless societies, but not Minnesota.

The League’s justification that the City needs this kind of limitless authority in order to “act swiftly” to address “financial pressures” is equally tyrannical. League Brief, p. 12. The “financial pressures” have existed in Brainerd since 2010, when the City first fired, but failed to obliterate the Union and its FEOs. There was no emergency that propelled its action five years later. Further, the joint Fire Advisory Board had asked for – and been promised – input in the decision, which the City officials circumvented due to fear that the Union’s “campaign” to prevent its extinction was gaining traction. *See* pp. 7-9, *supra*; Resp. Add. 18-19, 26, 28.

Nothing prevented the City from trying to negotiate with the Union. It chose not to do so, opting to destroy it, rather than dealing with it.

Finally, the League raises a “good faith” defense. *League Brief*, pp. 4, 13. But it cites no authority for a good-faith defense to a PELRA violation or, for that matter, any breach of contract matter. *See Helvetia Copper Co. v. Hart-Parr Co.*, 137 Minn. 321, 324, 163 N.W. 665, 667 (1917) (“good faith of defendant is no defense” to breach of a settlement agreement); *Schmidt v. Apple Valley Health Care Ctr., Inc.*, 460 N.W.2d 349, 354 (Minn. Ct. App. 1990) (the court refused to “read a good -faith defense” into statutory provision requiring equalization of rates charged to private paying nursing home patients).

The League’s espousal of the unfettered right of a municipality to denigrate – and destroy – union contracts is not only bad policy and contrary to PELRA, but it also is bad precedent for the private sector. Individuals, businesses and other entities are likely to be reluctant to enter into contracts with cities if the municipalities can walk away from the arrangements on a whim. That whim does not constitute a win, but a lose-lose.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected these arguments. Its decision was right and it should be affirmed to avoid the pernicious precedent a contrary ruling would create.

VII. IF REVERSED, REMAND IS APPROPRIATE

While Respondents maintain that the decision of the Court of Appeals was correct and should be affirmed, if it were to be reversed, that would not, and should not, end this litigation.

If affirmed, the case must be remanded for a determination of damages. *See* Add. 50.

But even if reversed, there are two remaining PELRA issues not addressed by the Court of Appeals. The complaint alleged violations of two other statutory provisions in addition to the “interference” prong: Minn. Stat. § 179A.13, subd. 2 (1), which forbids “interfering, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of” their PELRA rights; and Minn. Stat. § 179A.13, subd. 2(3), which prohibits discrimination in the “hire or tenure” of union members.

The Trial Court, framing those matters as “work jurisdiction” issues, initially declined to dismiss them on Summary Judgment and ordered trial on the “implementation

and effects” of the decision to abrogate the Union contract. Add. 10-17. But it then reversed itself on reconsideration and dismissed them, too, on grounds that they were untimely challenged below. Add. 29. *See* pp. 39-42, *supra*.

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